
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR 
Tel: 01322 343434 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

 
 
 

ELECTORAL  
PROVISIONS  

SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

Councillor C J Shippam (Chairman) 
Councillor D Swinerd (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillor A E D Barham 

Councillor L H K Edie 
Councillor A Gaskin 

Councillor K J Grehan 
Councillor M B Kelly 

Councillor D J Reynolds 
Councillor K Stealey 
Councillor R J Wells 

 
 

A meeting of the above Committee will be held at the Civic Centre on 
 

Thursday 30 June 2022 
 

at 7.00 pm  

 
Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services 

Wednesday 22 June 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page is intentionally left blank 
 

 



 
ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 

AGENDA 
 

Thursday 30 June 2022 
 
  
1. Apologies for Absence   
 
2. Declarations of Interest   
 To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 

terms(s) of Grants of Dispensation (if any) from the Audit Board or 
the Chief Officer & Director of Corporate Services.. 
 

 

 
3. Minutes of the meeting held on 3 February 2022 (Pages 1 - 4)  
 To confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Sub–Committee held on 

3 February 2022 as an accurate record. 
 

 

 
4. Urgent Items   
 The Chairman will announce if there are any urgent items and their 

position on the Agenda. 
 

 

 
5. References from other Committees. (If Any)   
 
6. Elections Bill   
 A verbal report on the Elections Bill and expected changes for 2023. 

 
 

 
7. Interim Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2022 

(Pages 5 - 92) 
 

 To report the outcome of the Review of Polling Districts and Polling 
Places 2022 and to recommend accordingly to the General Assembly 
of the Council. 
 

 

 
8. Community Governance Review - Swanscombe Town Ward 

(Pages 93 - 106) 
 

 To consider whether to carry out a Community Governance Review 
for the Swanscombe ward area of Swanscombe and Greenhithe 
Town Council and potential changes to ward boundaries. 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



1

CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

MINUTES of the meeting of the Electoral Provisions Sub-Committee held on 
Thursday 3 February 2022. 

 
PRESENT: 
 

Councillor Chris Shippam (Chairman) 
Councillor Drew Swinerd (Vice-Chairman) 
Councillor Mrs Anita Barham 
Councillor Sacha Gosine 
Councillor Denzil J Reynolds 
Councillor Richard J Wells 
 

 
ABSENT: 
 

Councillor Romana Gosine 
 

 
 Dartford Borough Council Officers:- 

 
 Sarah Martin – Chief Officer & Director of Corporate 

Services 
 Jeanette Pegler – Electoral Services Manager 

 
 

7. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  
 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Romana Gosine. 
 

8. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest received. 
 

9. MINUTES  
 
The Minutes of the Electoral Provisions Sub - Committee held on 6 July 2021 
were agreed as a correct record of that meeting. 
 

10. URGENT ITEMS  
 
It was reported that there were no urgent matters for the Sub - Committee to 
consider. 
 

11. REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES. (IF ANY)  
 
It was noted that no matters had been referred to the Sub Committee for 
consideration. 
 

12. COVID-19 UPDATE.  
 
The Electoral Services Manager reported on the precautions taken to combat 
Covid-19 at both the 2021 and the 27 January 2022 elections. 
 

Page 1 Agenda Item 3



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

She informed Members that whilst certain restrictions has been lifted on 27th 
January 2022 it had been decided to maintain precautions at both polling 
stations and at the ensuing count for the election on that date. 
 
The Electoral Services Manager reported that there had not been any  
Covid-19 outbreaks arising from the election and that no adverse comments 
had been received regarding precautions nor changes to polling places. 
 
It was additionally noted that the practice of conducting pre - checks for 
Candidate Nomination Papers digitally and pre - submission draft checking  
was to be continued as this offered a better service to candidates and agents 
and had been well received. 
 
Finally the Sub Committee was informed that there were no legislative 
changes expected before the May 2022 elections except to extend the current 
emergency proxy arrangements, based on Covid-19, and that there was no 
intention to extend any other provisions beyond 28 February 2022, therefore 
the subscribers to nomination papers would return to the previous levels.  
 
Members welcomed the information and congratulated the Electoral Services 
Manager and her team on the smooth running of the elections in these difficult 
times. 
 

13. ELECTIONS BILL  
 
The Sub - Committee received a verbal update on the provisions of the 
Elections Bill which is currently being considered by Parliament and noted that 
the Bill will make significant changes to all elections in the United Kingdom. 
 
The Bill is designed to strengthen the integrity of the electoral process and will 
introduce a number of changes including: - 
 

 The removal of the 15 year rule for overseas electors and introduction 
of votes for life for parliamentary elections 
 

 The formalisation of voting and candidacy rights of EU citizens 
following Brexit 
 

 The introduction of a requirement to show ID at Polling Stations 
 

 Changes to postal and proxy voting arrangements 
 

 Changes to the Electoral Commission and membership of the 
Speaker's Committee; 

 
It has been estimated that the provisions of the Bill will place a significant 
additional administrative burden on the Authority.  
 
In addition the Electoral Services Manager reported that the Minister of State 
for Equalities and Levelling Up Communities, had recently published a policy 
statement document – ‘Protecting the Integrity of our Elections’ which 
provided greater detail on voter identification and Voter Cards, and Members 

Page 2Agenda Item 3



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
 

THURSDAY 3 FEBRUARY 2022 
 

3

of the Sub-Committee were informed that a copy of this was to be provided for 
their information. 
 

14. INTERIM REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 2022  
 
Members were presented with the draft proposals to conduct an interim 
review of the polling districts and polling places in the borough together with a 
planned schedule for this review. 
 
It was noted that as a result of the steady growth of the population of Dartford 
it has been accepted that it was necessary to regularly monitor the Borough’s 
polling districts.   

 
By undertaking a review at this time it would be possible to introduce any 
necessary changes in time for the 2023 local elections.  Should any 
unscheduled elections be held before this date, they will be held under 
existing arrangements  
 
It was also reported that a referendum on the “Stone Neighbourhood Plan”, 
will be required to be held on 26 May 2022.   

 
Unfortunately the Plan is based on former parish council boundaries and 
consequently the polling districts needed to hold the referendum, no longer 
exist.   

 
Therefore Members were asked to consider the creation of an interim polling 
district to facilitate the referendum to be held on the 26 May 2022.   

 
It was further reported that this newly created polling district would be deleted 
and changes identified by the review implemented, in December 2022, when 
the Register of Electors was re–published.  
 

RESOLVED: 
 

1. That a public consultation on the polling districts and polling places, be 
conducted in accordance with the timetable set out in  Appendix A to the 
Report 

 
2. To note the potential need to create a new polling district (SHO1b), to 

enable the Stone Neighbourhood Planning Referendum to be conducted 
as set out in Appendix B to the Report. 

 
3. To note and support the preliminary findings of Officers relating to changes 

to polling places as set out in Appendix C to the Report, for inclusion in the 
public consultation approved in Resolution 1 above. 

 
 
 

The meeting closed at 7.30 pm 
 

Page 3 Agenda Item 3



CHAIRMAN’S 
INITIALS

  
 
 

Councillor C J Shippam 
CHAIRMAN 

 

Page 4Agenda Item 3



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
30 June 2022 

INTERIM REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 
2022 

 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 Following the review of Polling Districts and Polling Places to recommend 

changes to the arrangements and recommend accordingly to the General 
Assembly of the Council for approval. 

2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1  That the comments received as part of the review of polling districts and polling 

places, at Appendices A, Bi and Bii to the report, be noted. 
 
2.2  That the recommended changes to the Polling Districts and Polling Places as 

detailed in Appendix C to the report, be endorsed and  recommended to the 
General Assembly of the Council for approval. 

 
 

3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. As approved by the General Assembly of the Council at its meeting held 
on the 28 February 2022 [Min.No.6], a review of the polling districts and 
polling places was conducted between 7 March 2022 and 30 May 2022. 

3.2. The details of the review were available on the Council’s website for 
public consultation, together with invitations being sent to interested 
parties and organisations. The responses and proposals are shown at 
Appendix A to the report. 

3.3. The comments from the (Acting) Returning Officer are enclosed at 
Appendix Bi and following the conclusion of the review, she was re-
consulted on the proposed changes which are enclosed at Appendix Bii 
to the report.  In addition to considering accessibility, lighting and location 
of the polling places, officers have also taken this opportunity to consider 
the effects of the Elections Act 2022.  In May 2023, electors will need to 
present ID when voting at polling stations, so consideration has been 
given to the assessment of suitable space to allow polling station staff to 
check documents, and provide a privacy screen or separate area for 
confidential conversations. 

3.4. The Sub-committee is asked to consider the final proposals set out at 
Appendix C to this report, and refer the recommendations to the General 
Assembly of the Council for adoption. 

3.5. If adopted, these arrangements would come into force at the 
republication of the register of electors in December 2022 and be used 
for the May 2023 local elections. 

  

Page 5 Agenda Item 7



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
30 June 2022 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Theme: A council performing strongly: 
Objective 2. Inform and consult residents and stakeholders about 
Council services. 
 

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 
Financial 
Implications 

The creation of additional polling places will incur more 
costs to run elections, however it is expected that the 
additional financial pressure would be offset by the 
reduction in the cost and usage of mobile units. The direct 
impact of this for local elections will be provided for by a 
provision within the identified initiative reserve.  

Legal 
Implications 

If approved by the General Assembly of the Council, any 
changes would not be implemented until after December 
2022.  Any elections which are held before this date would 
be administered on the current polling districts and polling 
places and would not take into account any of the changes 
identified.  

Climate Impact 
Assessment 

None 

Public Sector 
Equality Duty 

Persons with disabilities may be effected by the review, 
however this will be mitigated by making them accessible 
where possible and staff training provided on the 
assistance that can be provided. 
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1367/customer-
access-review-full-assessment-dec-2021  

Staffing 
Implications 

The creation of additional polling districts will require the 
Returning Officer to employ more staff at election time. 

Administrative 
Implications 

The Electoral Management system will need to be 
amended prior to the publication of the Register of Electors 
in December 2022. 

Risk 
Assessment  

No uncertainties and/or constraints. 

  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Consultation responses and officer comments 
Appendix Bi and Bii – (Acting) Returning Officer and Returning Officer 
Comments 
Appendix C – Recommendations for the Polling Districts and Polling 
Places 
Appendix D – Map showing proposed Polling Districts 

Page 6Agenda Item 7

https://www.dartford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1367/customer-access-review-full-assessment-dec-2021
https://www.dartford.gov.uk/downloads/file/1367/customer-access-review-full-assessment-dec-2021


ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
30 June 2022 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
Interim Review of Polling 
Districts and Polling Places 2022 

GAC  
28/02/22 

Jeanette Pegler 
(01322) 343424 

Electoral 
Services / 
Corporate 

N/A 

Page 7 Agenda Item 7

http://dbc-daap-07:8070/documents/s71729/Report%20and%20Appendices%20-%20Interim%20Polling%20Review.pdf
http://dbc-daap-07:8070/documents/s71729/Report%20and%20Appendices%20-%20Interim%20Polling%20Review.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 8



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022   BEA1 
 

WARD: Bean & Village Park  

POLLING DISTRICT: BEA1 

POLLING PLACE: Arrow Riding Centre 

ADDRESS: Darenth Park Avenue, Darenth, Kent, DA2 6LZ 

ELECTORATE: 764 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  

Separate room/space available so that voters are able to show their ID in private? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  
 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The Arrow Riding School have confirmed that we can continue to use as a polling station. 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Appendix A

Page 9 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      BEA2 
 

WARD: Bean & Village Park 

POLLING DISTRICT: BEA2 

POLLING PLACE: Bean Village Hall 

ADDRESS: High Street, Bean, Kent, DA2 8AS 

ELECTORATE: 1219 
 

 

 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The village hall have confirmed we can continue to use as a polling station. 
 

 

 

Page 10Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      BRG1 
 

WARD: Bridge 

POLLING DISTRICT: BRG1 

POLLING PLACE: Dartford Bridge Learning & Community Campus 

ADDRESS: Birdwood Avenue, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5GB 

ELECTORATE: 2028 
LOCATION: 

 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

This premises has worked well as a polling station, and was successfully used as a dual polling station in 
2021.  Although there is no elector car parking on site, the Fastrack bus route is outside the premises and 
arrangements have previously been made for a space to be available opposite the premises. 
 
Kent County Council have confirmed that we can continue to use. 
 
 

Page 11 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      BRG2 
 

WARD: Bridge 

POLLING DISTRICT: BRG2 

POLLING PLACE: The Nucleus 

ADDRESS: Brunel Way, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5GA 

ELECTORATE: 609 
LOCATION: 

 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

This is a proposed change from the Management Suite, Marsh Street North, Dartford, DA1 5PF.  In the 
2021 elections, a dual station was placed at Dartford Bridge Learning & Community Campus although 
originally suggested as a permanent polling place at the start of the review, it is now suggested that The 
Nucleus would offer better arrangements for electors. 
 
Councillor K Stealey raised concern with the proposal changing the polling place from the Management 
Suite to the Dartford Bridge Learning & Community Campus due to the distance and the effect it could 
have on turnout as the previous polling place was closer to the bus stop and had a car park.  

 

Page 12Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      BRT1 
 

WARD: Brent 

POLLING DISTRICT: BRT1 

POLLING PLACE: Dartford Primary Academy (Juniors) 

ADDRESS: York Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1SQ 

ELECTORATE: 1602 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The hall with the school used previously required a ramp to be built for each election to access, however 
following the election held in 2021, the school has retained the ramp that was built so it now accessible if 
the Returning Officer used that room. 
 
The school has not objected to the school being used. 
 
 

 

Page 13 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      BRT2 
 

WARD: Brent 

POLLING DISTRICT: BRT2 

POLLING PLACE: Princes Park 

ADDRESS: Grassbanks, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1LZ 

ELECTORATE: 443 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The football club has confirmed that the premises can be used. 

 

 

 
 

Page 14Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      BRT3 
 

WARD: Brent  

POLLING DISTRICT: BRT3 

POLLING PLACE: Fleetdown Library 

ADDRESS: Swaledale Road, Dartford,Kent, DA2 6JZ 

ELECTORATE: 2392 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

Kent County Council have confirmed that we can continue to use the library. 

 

 

 
 

Page 15 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      BUR1 
 

WARD: Burnham 

POLLING DISTRICT: BUR1 

POLLING PLACE: Holy Trinity Church of England School 

ADDRESS: Chatsworth Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5AF 

ELECTORATE: 2350 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The school has not objected to being used. 

 

 

 
 

Page 16Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022             DAR1 / DAR2 
 

WARD: Darenth 

POLLING DISTRICT: DAR1 

POLLING PLACE: Darenth Hall 

ADDRESS: Ladywood Road, Darenth, Kent, DA2 7LL 

ELECTORATE: 1132 / 916 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The Parish Council have confirmed that we can continue to use. 

 

 

 
 

Page 17 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022         EBB1a 
 

WARD: Ebbsfleet 

POLLING DISTRICT: EBB1a 

POLLING PLACE: Marketing Suite 

ADDRESS: Eastern Avenue, Western Cross, Ebbsfleet Valley, Kent 

ELECTORATE: 19 
 

 
         

 
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold?  X 

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp?  X 

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

It is proposed that a new polling district is created for this development. 
 
The Western Cross development is to the West of the Ebbsfleet Ward and there is currently no facilities 
which could be used as a polling place until the later phases.  Countryside Partnership have therefore 
agreed that we can use their sales office as the polling place. 
 
  

Page 18Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022       EBB1b 
 

WARD: Ebbsfleet  

POLLING DISTRICT: EBB1b 

POLLING PLACE: Cherry Orchard Primary Academy / Castle Hill Community Centre 

ADDRESS: Cherry Orchard, Castle Hill, Ebbsfleet Valley, Kent, DA10 1AD 

ELECTORATE: 1850 
 

 

 

 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

Previously the polling place has been either Cherry Orchard School or the Castle Hill Community Centre.  
Now that the Ebbsfleet development has grown, the community centre offers better sized facilities and 
reduces the need for the school to close on polling day. 
 
However the Community Centre have not confirmed that we can use as a polling station so the polling 
place should remain the same giving the option to use either. 
 

 

 

Page 19 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022          EBB1c 
 

WARD: Ebbsfleet  

POLLING DISTRICT: EBB1c 

POLLING PLACE: Ebbsfleet Green 

ADDRESS: Ebbsfleet Green Primary School, Ackers Drive, Weldon Road, Ebbsfleet, 
Kent, DA10 1AL 

ELECTORATE: 970 
 

  
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp?  X 

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

It is proposed that a new polling district is created for this development. 
 
The school has confirmed the premises can be used as a polling place. 
 

 

 
 

Page 20Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      EBB2 
 

WARD: Ebbsfleet  

POLLING DISTRICT: EBB2 

POLLING PLACE: Mobile Unit or premises within Polling District 

ADDRESS: n/a 

ELECTORATE: 599 
 

 

 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold?  X 

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station?  X 

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

 X 

Could it act as a dual station?  X 
 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

A mobile unit has previously been used in this polling district which has been located on Snowden Hill. The 
review was unable to find a suitable permanent polling place at this time. Consideration was given looking 
to place the polling place in the neighbouring authority but it was agreed that this could cause elector 
confusion. 
 

 

 
 

Page 21 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      GRE1 
 

WARD: Greenhithe & Knockhall  

POLLING DISTRICT: GRE1 

POLLING PLACE: Knockhall Academy 

ADDRESS: Eynsford Road, Greenhithe, Kent, DA9 9RF 

ELECTORATE: 2418 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The school has confirmed that the school can be used as a polling station. 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 22Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      GRE2 
 

WARD: Greenhithe & Knockhall 

POLLING DISTRICT: GRE2 

POLLING PLACE: Sir John Franklin 

ADDRESS: High Street, Greenhithe, Kent, DA9 9NN 

ELECTORATE: 1161 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold?  X 

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station?  X 

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

They have confirmed that we can continue to use as a polling station. 

 

 

 
 

Page 23 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      GRE3 
 

WARD: Greenhithe & Knockhall / Swanscombe & Greenhithe 

POLLING DISTRICT: GRE3 

POLLING PLACE: Community Centre 

ADDRESS: Ingress Park Avenue, Greenhithe, Kent, DA9 9FR 

ELECTORATE: 1885 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? -  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The community centre has been used as a polling place on numerous occasions at the permission of Crest 
Nicholson who still own the premises.  In the future the building will transfer management to Swanscombe 
and Greenhithe Town Council who have confirmed that once completed we can continue to use. 
 

 

 
 

Page 24Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022  HEA1 
 

WARD: Heath / Dartford West 

POLLING DISTRICT: HEA1 

POLLING PLACE: Wentworth County Primary School 

ADDRESS: Entrance via James Road, Wentworth Drive, Dartford, Kent, DA1 3NG 

ELECTORATE: 2336 
 

 

 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold?  X 

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The school has confirmed that the premises can be used as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 25 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      HEA2 
 

WARD: Heath 

POLLING DISTRICT: HEA2 

POLLING PLACE: Lutonia Hall 

ADDRESS: 7 Broomhill Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 3HT 

ELECTORATE: 1013 
 

   
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

There is a recommended change from Scout House which is located on the same road.  The Lutonia Hall 
is able to offer better access arrangements to the rear of the premises meaning that the Returning Officer 
does not need to arrange for a ramp to be built.  The hall was used successfully in the 2021 elections and 
the scouts have confirmed that we are able to continue to use. 
 
Councillor A Lloyd understood the reason for the suggested changed and raised no objection. 
 

Page 26Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      HEA3 
 

WARD: Heath 

POLLING DISTRICT: HEA3 

POLLING PLACE: Orchard Garage 

ADDRESS: 157 – 161 Heath Lane (Upper), Dartford, Kent, DA1 2TW 

ELECTORATE: 1079 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold?  X 

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)?  X 

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

 X 

Could it act as a dual station?  X 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

Previously the polling place was a mobile unit within the polling district which had historically been placed 
on Heath Lane.  Orchard Garage have been approached and they have agreed that they are happy to 
accommodate a polling station at their premise. 
 
Councillor A Lloyd advised that residents were concerned with moving the location of the mobile unit from 
the currently location.  Concern was centred on that it was felt that there was not suitable alternatives 
within walking distance from the current location and lack of street lighting late at night.  The Orchard 
Garage is only a short distance from the current arrangements and is well lit. 
 
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow raised concerns with using the Orchard Garage due to moving traffic however 
Officers have discussed with the garage about safety measure which can be put in place. 
 

Page 27 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      JOY1 
 

WARD: Joydens Wood 

POLLING DISTRICT: JOY1 

POLLING PLACE: Summerhouse Drive Library 

ADDRESS: 80 Summerhouse Drive, Bexley, Kent, DA5 2EE 

ELECTORATE: 2309 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

Kent County Council have confirmed use as a polling station. 

 

 

 
 

Page 28Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      JOY2 
 

WARD: Joydens Wood 

POLLING DISTRICT: JOY2 

POLLING PLACE: Joydens Wood Community Centre 

ADDRESS: Birchwood Drive, Wilmington, Kent, DA2 7NE 

ELECTORATE: 1815 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The community centre has confirmed the premises will be available. 

 

 

 
 

Page 29 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022                   LNS1 / LNS2 
 

WARD: Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet 

POLLING DISTRICT: LNS1 / LNS2 

POLLING PLACE: Long Valley Hall 

ADDRESS: Fawkham Road, Longfield, DA3 7QP 

ELECTORATE: 151 / 1519 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could this act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The Parish Council have confirmed that we can use as a polling station. 
 
This is a change from the previous venue at Jubilee Church Hall, Main Road, Longfield, Kent, DA3 7QP. 
Although the church hall has been used for many years, it is not readily accessible for those electors in the 
LNS1 polling district and complaints have previously been received. 
 

 
 

Page 30Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      LNS3 
 

WARD: Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet  

POLLING DISTRICT: LNS3 

POLLING PLACE: Community (Scout) Hall 

ADDRESS: Nurstead Lane, Longfield Hill, DA3 7AN 

ELECTORATE: 207 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available?  X 

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The use of the premises has been confirmed. 

 

 

 
 

Page 31 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      LNS4 
 

WARD: Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet  

POLLING DISTRICT: LNS4 

POLLING PLACE: Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District 

ADDRESS: n/a 

ELECTORATE: 1399 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station?  X 

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

 X 

Could it act as a dual station?  X 
 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The mobile unit is usually situated at The Oval, Longfield, Kent. 
 
A permanant polling place was not identified during the review. 
 

 

 
 

Page 32Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      LNS5 
 

WARD: Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet 

POLLING DISTRICT: LNS5 

POLLING PLACE: Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District 

ADDRESS: n/a 

ELECTORATE: 1129 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

 X 

Could it act as a dual station?  X 
 

Observation from review / Officer comments 

The mobile unit is usually situated at Nuthatch, Longfield, Kent. 
 
A permanant polling place was not identified during the review. 
 

 

 
 

Page 33 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      LNS6 
 

WARD: Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet 

POLLING DISTRICT: LNS6 

POLLING PLACE: Southfleet Village Hall 

ADDRESS: Dale Road, Southfleet, Kent, DA13 9NX 

ELECTORATE: 794 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that it can be used as a polling station. 

 

 

 
 

Page 34Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      LNS7 
 

WARD: Longfield, New Barn & Southfleet / Dartford Rural 

POLLING DISTRICT: LNS7 

POLLING PLACE: Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District 

ADDRESS: n/a 

ELECTORATE: 373 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

 X 

Could it act as a dual station?  X 
 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The mobile unit is usually situated at Broomhills, Betsham Road, Southfleet, Kent. A permanent polling 
place was not identified during the review. 
 
Southfleet Parish Council suggest the location of the mobile unit be moved from Broomhills to the car park 
at Ingress Terrace. 

The proposal has been discussed with the Head of Housing Services and he will investigate if the car park 
would be an option for future elections. 

 

Page 35 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      MLC1 
 

WARD: Maypole & Leyton Cross 

POLLING DISTRICT: MLC1 

POLLING PLACE: Bexley Sports and Social Club 

ADDRESS: Calvert Drive, Dartford, Kent, DA2 7GA 

ELECTORATE: 1425 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that it can be used as a polling station. 

 

 

 
 

Page 36Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      MLC2 
 

WARD: Maypole & Leyton Cross 

POLLING DISTRICT: MLC2 

POLLING PLACE: Leyton Cross Social Club 

ADDRESS: 14 Tredegar Road, Wilmington, Kent, DA2 7AZ 

ELECTORATE: 764 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold?  X 

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirm that it can be used as a polling station. 

 

 

 
 

Page 37 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      NEW1 
 

WARD: Newtown 

POLLING DISTRICT: NEW1 

POLLING PLACE: Dartford Primary Academy (Infants) 

ADDRESS: St Albans Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1TE 

ELECTORATE: 2214 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The school have not objected to the premises being used as a polling station. 

 

 

 
 

Page 38Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      NEW2 
 

WARD: Newtown  

POLLING DISTRICT: NEW2 

POLLING PLACE: Methodist Church Hall 

ADDRESS: St Vincents Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1XF 

ELECTORATE: 1447 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that the premises can be used as a polling station. 

 

 

 
 

Page 39 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      NEW3 
 

WARD: Newtown 

POLLING DISTRICT: NEW3 

POLLING PLACE: The Pavilion 

ADDRESS: Hesketh Park, Pilgrims Way, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1QZ 

ELECTORATE: 556 
 

 

  

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that it can be used as a polling station. 

 

 

Page 40Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      PRI1 
 

WARD: Princes 

POLLING DISTRICT: PRI1 

POLLING PLACE: Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District 

ADDRESS: n/a 

ELECTORATE: 198 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

If "No", is there an alternative entrance for wheelchair users? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer comments 

Officers have reviewed the possibility of using alterative premises in the area but have been unable to 
confirm an alternative and suggest that the polling place should be changed to mobile unit or premise 
within the Polling District to allow the Returning Officer to consider alterative options.  The 9th Dartford 
(Morning Star) Scout Hall offers good polling facilities but parking can be difficult and there are alterative 
premises close by which have car parking available. 
 
 

Page 41 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022                      PRI2 / PRI3 
 

WARD: Princes 

POLLING DISTRICT: PRI2 / PRI3 

POLLING PLACE: Phoenix Place Community Hub 

ADDRESS: Phoenix Place, Dartford, Kent, DA1 2XD 

ELECTORATE: 977 / 510 
 

   
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that it can be used as a polling station. 
 
For the Wilmington Division by-election held in January 2021, the polling places for PRI2 and PRI3 were 
combined removing the need for a mobile unit at either Cedar Road or in Highfield Road car park.  This 
worked well and no complaints were received from electors. 
 

 

 
 

Page 42Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      PRI4 
 

WARD: Princes 

POLLING DISTRICT: PRI4 

POLLING PLACE: Tree Community Centre 

ADDRESS: Cedar Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 2RS 

ELECTORATE: 2078 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

Use of the premises as a polling station has been confirmed. 

 

 

 
 

Page 43 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022                   PRI5 / WSH5 
 

WARD: Princes 

POLLING DISTRICT: PRI5 / WSH5 

POLLING PLACE: Oakfield Primary Academy 

ADDRESS: Oakfield Lane, Dartford, Kent, DA1 2SW 

ELECTORATE: 429 / 150 
 

  
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The school have not objected to the premises being used as a polling station. 
 
In 2021 the 8th Dartford (Holy Trinity) Scout Hall was used on Oakfield Lane.  Although the hall provided 
good polling facilities, the stepped entrance did not provide suitable accessibility and is not therefore 
recommended as the permeant polling place. 
 

Page 44Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      SCA1 
 

WARD: Stone Castle 

POLLING DISTRICT: SCA1 

POLLING PLACE: Claire Tiltman Centre 

ADDRESS: Gantry Place, Cotton Lane, Stone, Greenhithe, Kent, DA9 9FA 

ELECTORATE: 1336 
 

  

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The Parish Council have confirmed that premises can be used as a polling place. 
 
This is a change from using a mobile unit for this polling district which was previously located at the car 
park at the Lads of the Village Public House and most recently the open recreation space at Chalice Way 
 

 

 
 

Page 45 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      SCA2 
 

WARD: Stone Castle 

POLLING DISTRICT: SCA2 

POLLING PLACE: Stone Pavillion – Riverhall  

ADDRESS: Hayes Road, Horns Cross, Greenhithe Kent, DA9 9DS 

ELECTORATE: 1557 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold?  X 

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a duel station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

Stone Parish Council have confirmed that the premises can be used as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 46Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      SCA3 
 

WARD: Stone Castle 

POLLING DISTRICT: SCA3 

POLLING PLACE: Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District 

ADDRESS: n/a 

ELECTORATE: 2651 

 

  

 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station?  X 

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

 X 

Could it act as a dual station?  X 
Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The mobile unit is currently located at Steele Avenue, Greenhithe, Kent.  During the review, officers tried to 
find a permanent polling place and approached businesses within Stone Castle and other local businesses 
without success.  
 
A comment was received during the reviewed requesting that a temporary polling stations be located in 
Waterstone Park and St Clements Lake, as developments were some distance from the polling station in 
Worcester Park. 
 
Officers have held a meeting with the Greenhythe Masonic Lodge on London Road.  This facility would 
offer a good alterative option to a mobile unit and be closer to the St Clements and Waterstone 
developments.  Officers are seeking approval from their committee therefore the polling places will need to 
remain as a mobile unit or premises within the polling district. 
 

Page 47 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022    SHO1 / SHO3b 
 

WARD: Stone House 

POLLING DISTRICT: SHO1 / SHO3b 

POLLING PLACE: The Gateway Primary Academy 

ADDRESS: Milestone Road, Dartford, Kent, DA2 6PL 

ELECTORATE: 779 / 654 
 

   
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available?  X 

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The school has confirmed that premises can be used as a polling place.  
 
Comments were received that residents in Wilks Road/Q Park find frustrating walking past Littlebrook 
Hospital, onto Cotton Lane and along to the Brent, then past a Polling station and continue along to 
Milestone Road to The Gateway School and supported the new proposals included in the review and 
suggested that a polling station should established in the Judo Centre or Stone Bowls which would be 
more accessible to residents. 
 
Cllr T Oliver supported the recommendation and that the Judo Club on Cotton lane be the designated 
polling place which would be much more convenient for the residents living in the area. 
 

Page 48Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      SHO2 
 

WARD: Stone House 

POLLING DISTRICT: SHO2 

POLLING PLACE: Watling Street Office   

ADDRESS: Watling Street, Dartford, Kent DA2 6AA 

ELECTORATE: 248 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp?  X 

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station?  X 
 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

It has been confirmed that the premises can be used as a polling place. 
 
This is a change of polling place from the Brent School which is located outside of the polling district. 
 

 

 
 

Page 49 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022       SHO3a / SHO4a 
 

WARD: Stone House 

POLLING DISTRICT: SHO3a / SHO4a 

POLLING PLACE: Dartford Judo Club 

ADDRESS: Cotton Lane Stone Kent DA2 6PD 

ELECTORATE: 386 / 515 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  
 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that it can be used as a polling place. 
 
These are two new polling districts.  The electors in SHO2a would have previously used the polling station 
located at the Gateway Primary School on Milestone Road and SHO4a would have voted at The Brent 
Primary School via St Johns Road. 
 
Comments were received that residents in Wilks Road/Q Park find it frustrating walking past Littlebrook 
Hospital, onto Cotton Lane and along to the Brent, then past a Polling station and continue along to 
Milestone Road to The Gateway School and supported the new proposals included in the review and 
suggested that a polling station should established in the Judo Centre or Stone Bowls which would be 
more accessible to residents. 
 
Cllr T Oliver supported the recommendation and that the Judo Club on Cotton lane be the designated 
polling place which would be much more convenient for the residents living in the area. 

Page 50Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022       SHO3a / SHO4a 
 

Page 51 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022          SHO4b 
 

WARD: Stone House 

POLLING DISTRICT: SHO4b 

POLLING PLACE: The Brent Primary School 

ADDRESS: London Road, Stone, Kent, DA2 6BA 

ELECTORATE: 1105 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The school have not objected to the premises being used as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 52Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      SHO5 
 

WARD: Stone House 

POLLING DISTRICT: SHO5 

POLLING PLACE: Community Centre 

ADDRESS: Alamein Gardens, Stone, Kent, DA2 6BW 

ELECTORATE: 896 
 

   
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that it can be used as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 53 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      SWA1 
 

WARD: Swanscombe  

POLLING DISTRICT: SWA1 

POLLING PLACE: Heritage Community Hall 

ADDRESS: Craylands Lane, Swanscombe, Kent, DA10 0LP 

ELECTORATE: 1589 
 

 

 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The Town Council have confirmed that it can be used as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 54Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      SWA2 
 

WARD: Swanscombe / Swanscombe & Greenhithe 

POLLING DISTRICT: SWA2 

POLLING PLACE: Swanscombe & Greenhithe Town Council Offices 

ADDRESS: The Grove, Swanscombe, Kent, DA10 0GA 

ELECTORATE: 993 
LOCATION: 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The Town Council have confirmed that it can be used as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 55 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      SWA3 
 

WARD: Swanscombe 

POLLING DISTRICT: SWA3 

POLLING PLACE: The Church Centre 

ADDRESS: 112 Swanscombe Street, Swanscombe, Kent, DA10 0JZ 

ELECTORATE: 2168 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that it can be used as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 56Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      TEM1 
 

WARD: Temple Hill 

POLLING DISTRICT: TEM1 

POLLING PLACE: Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District 

ADDRESS: n/a 

ELECTORATE: 1771 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

 X 

Could it act as a dual station?  X 
 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

Currently the polling placed is a mobile unit places at the car park in Trevithick Drive, Dartford. 
 
A permanant polling place was not identified during the review. 
 

 

 
 

Page 57 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      TEM2 
 

WARD: Temple Hill 

POLLING DISTRICT: TEM2 

POLLING PLACE: Temple Hill Baptist Church Hall 

ADDRESS: St Edmunds Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5ND 

ELECTORATE: 2288 
 

 

   
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The Baptist Church have confirmed that the premises can be used as a polling place. 
 
This is a change of polling place from Temple Hill Primary Academy. The school have found it challenging 
to remain open when used as a polling place and reverting back to the previous arrangements of using the 
Baptist Hall offers a suitable alternative.   
 

 
 

Page 58Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022  TEM3 
 

WARD: Temple Hill 

POLLING DISTRICT: TEM3 

POLLING PLACE: Temple Hill Community Centre 

ADDRESS: Temple Hill Square, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5HX 

ELECTORATE: 2138 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises has confirmed that it can be used as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 59 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022         TOW1 / TOW2a 
 

WARD: Town 

POLLING DISTRICT: TOW1 / TOW2a 

POLLING PLACE: River Mill Primary School 

ADDRESS: Mill Pond Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5AH 

ELECTORATE: 1491 / 583 
 

   
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The school has confirmed that the premises is available to use as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 60Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022         TOW2b 
 

WARD: Town 

POLLING DISTRICT: TOW2b 

POLLING PLACE: Dartford Library 

ADDRESS: Central Park, Market Street, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1EU 

ELECTORATE: 287 
 

 

 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

Confirmation from KCC that this premises can be used as a polling station 

 

Page 61 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022     TOW2c 
 

WARD: Town 

POLLING DISTRICT: TOW2c 

POLLING PLACE: Highfield Road Baptist Church 

ADDRESS: Highfield Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 2JJ 

ELECTORATE: 697 
 

 
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed it can be used as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 62Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      TOW3 
 

WARD: Town  

POLLING DISTRICT: TOW3 

POLLING PLACE: Central Park Running Track 

ADDRESS: Cranford Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1JP 

ELECTORATE: 270 
 

   
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises has confirmed it can be used as a polling premises. 

 

 

 
 

Page 63 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      WES1 
 

WARD: West Hill 

POLLING DISTRICT: WES1 

POLLING PLACE: West Hill Primary Academy 

ADDRESS: Dartford Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 3DZ 

ELECTORATE: 1645 
 

  

 

 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The school has confirmed that the premises is available for use as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 64Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022   WES2 
 

WARD: West Hill 

POLLING DISTRICT: WES2 

POLLING PLACE: Our Lady's Primary School 

ADDRESS: King Edward Avenue, Dartford, Kent, DA1 2HX 

ELECTORATE: 2198 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The school has confirmed that it is available for use as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 65 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      WES3 
 

WARD: West Hill 

POLLING DISTRICT: WES3 

POLLING PLACE: Christ Church Parish Rooms 

ADDRESS: Christchurch Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 3DH 

ELECTORATE: 2099 
 

  
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that it is available for use as a polling place. 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 66Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      WSH1 
 

WARD: Wilmington, Sutton-at-home & Hawley 

POLLING DISTRICT: WSH1 

POLLING PLACE: Sutton-at-Hone Library 

ADDRESS: Main Road, Sutton At Hone, Kent, DA4 9HQ 

ELECTORATE: 2156 
 

  
 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

Kent County Council have confirmed that the premises is available to use as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 67 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      WSH2 
 

WARD: Wilmington, Sutton-at-home & Hawley 

POLLING DISTRICT: WSH2 

POLLING PLACE: Hawley Garden Centre 

ADDRESS: Hawley Road, Hawley, Sutton at Hone, Dartford DA2 7RB 

ELECTORATE: 1127 
 

 

 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available? X  
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The polling place was previously the Papermakers Arms which has unfortunately now closed and is no 
longer available.  Officers investigated the possibility of using the Hawley Pavilion however due to the use 
by a children’s nursery the premises would not be available. 
 
Hawley Garden Centre has however agreed that their premises can be used as a polling place. 
 

 

 

Page 68Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022      WSH3 
 

WARD: Wilmington, Sutton-at-hone & Hawley 

POLLING DISTRICT: WSH3 

POLLING PLACE: Wilmington Memorial Hall 

ADDRESS: 96 High Road, Wilmington, Kent, DA2 7DW 

ELECTORATE: 1670 
 

 

  

 

 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that it would be available to be used as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 69 Agenda Item 7



Polling District & Polling Place Review 2022  WSH4 
 

WARD: Wilmington, Sutton-at-home & Hawley 

POLLING DISTRICT: WSH4 

POLLING PLACE: St Michael's Church Hall 

ADDRESS: 2 High Road, Wilmington, Kent, DA2 7EG 

ELECTORATE: 1080 
 

   
 

ENTRANCES: 
 
 Yes No 

Is there a level threshold? X  

Are the entrance/exit of sufficient width (min 1.2m)? X  

Is a ramp installed if required, or is it possible to fit a portable ramp? X  

Is there sufficient outside lighting available? X  

Are there suitable areas for to electors to queue safely? X  

Is there sufficient space inside the polling station? X  

Is there disabled car parking available?  X 
Suitable space to allow polling station staff to check documents, and provide a privacy 
screen or separate area for confidential conversations? 

X  

Could it act as a dual station? X  

 

Observation from review / Officer Comments 

The premises have confirmed that it is available for use as a polling place. 

 

 

 
 

Page 70Agenda Item 7



Appendix Bi 
 

REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 2022 
(ACTING) RETURNING OFFICER COMMENTS 
As the (Acting) Returning Officer of Dartford Borough Council, I have had the opportunity to use 
the current polling arrangements since they were last reviewed by the Council in 2018.  In most 
areas they work well, however as identified in the Officers’ report to the General Assembly of the 
Council on the 28 February 2022, some changes are needed and I support the suggestions made. 

The use of temporary mobile units is becoming increasingly more problematic, expensive and 
challenging for unscheduled polls and does not offer the best facilities for electors or staff.  I am 
hoping this review will identify alternative permanent solutions which I can consider for future 
elections. 

The changes introduced as part of the Election Bill will also bring new obligations and these will 
need to be considered and will affect the polling stations I will be able to use in the future and may 
necessitate changes. 

The pandemic introduced new challenges in polling stations, and did demonstrate the need to 
change some of the arrangements in polling places.  Some of the requirements introduced, such 
as areas for electors to wait because of social distancing, will be needed again as Elector ID is 
introduced as part of the Bill.  Due to the increased time it will take to process electors, queues will 
be expected at some polling stations and I ask that this is considered as part of this review in 
advance of this introduction. 

My comments of the arrangements are set out below: - 

BEA1  

Current Polling Place: Arrow Riding Centre 
Returning Officer Comments: For the May 2021 elections due to the pandemic, a trailer was 
used as a mobile polling station at this location.  This would not be suitable to use at future 
elections especially if a high turnout was expected.  The Arrow Riding School had previously 
offered good polling facilities and I do not see a reason to change from this location. 
 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Arrow Riding School 

 

BEA2  

Current Polling Place: Bean Village Hall 
Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Bean Village Hall 

 

BRG1 

Current Polling Place: Dartford Bridge Learning & Community Campus 
Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Dartford Bridge Learning & Community Campus 

 

BRG2 

Page 71 Agenda Item 7



Current Polling Place: Management Centre, Marsh Street North, 
Returning Officer Comments:  In May 2021, due to Covid-19 restrictions, the polling place was 
changed to a dual station from the Management Centre to the Dartford Bridge Learning & 
Community Campus.  This worked well and I ask that the Council consider making this a 
permanent change.  Although located further away from the electors in BRG2, the campus 
contains all the community facilities for the development and is well located. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Dartford Bridge Learning & Community Campus 

 

BRT1 

Current Polling Place: Dartford Primary Academy (Juniors) 
Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Dartford Primary Academy (Juniors) 

 

BRT2  

Current Polling Place: Princes Park 
Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Princes Park 

 

BRT3 

Current Polling Place: Fleetdown Library 
Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Fleetdown Library 

 

BUR1 

Current Polling Place: Holy Trinity Church of England School 
Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Holy Trinity Church of England School 

 

DAR1 

Current Polling Place: Darenth Hall 
Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Darenth Hall 

 

DAR2 

Current Polling Place: Darenth Hall 
Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Darenth Hall 

 

Page 72Agenda Item 7



EBB1a 

Current Polling Place: Cherry Orchard Primary School/Community Centre 
Returning Officer Comments:  Both the school and the community centre have been used for 
polling and have both worked well.  As the electorate has now grown at Ebbsfleet, the original 
room identified to use as a polling station is no longer suitable.  The community centre is located 
next to the school and it would seem sensible to make a permanent change to the community 
centre to avoid any elector confusion and make booking easier in the future. 
 
The recommendation to split this polling district into two, with the Weldon area being separated, 
seems a sensible recommendation. 
 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Cherry Orchard Community Centre 

 

EBB1b 

Current Polling Place: Cherry Orchard Primary School/Community Centre 
Returning Officer Comments:  The Ebbsfleet development is growing and now would be a 
good opportunity to create a new polling district for the electors in Weldon, and I support the 
officers’ recommendations to create a new polling district. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Ebbsfleet Green Primary School 

 

EBB2 

Current Polling Place: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

Returning Officer Comments:  The use of a mobile unit in this area is problematic and ideally 
a more permanent solution needs to be found, although there seems to be very few suitable 
premises available inside the polling district however I would not support the previous 
arrangements where electors voted in alternative polling districts. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

 

GRE1  

Current Polling Place: Knockhall Academy 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Knockhall Academy 

 

GRE2 

Current Polling Place: Sir John Franklin 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Sir John Franklin 

 

  

Page 73 Agenda Item 7



GRE3  

Current Polling Place: Ingress Community Centre 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Ingress Community Centre 

 

GRE4 

Current Polling Place: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

Returning Officer Comments:  Currently there are no registered electors in this area, but in the 
future if the area is developed, a polling place would be required.  Until this has been 
progressed, I would suggest that if any electors become registered then they should vote in 
GRE3. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

 

HEA1 

Current Polling Place: Wentworth County Primary School 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Wentworth County Primary School 

 

HEA2 

Current Polling Place: Scout House 

Returning Officer Comments:  This premises is not disabled accessible and does not offer the 
best facilities for electors.  At the May 2021 elections, Lutonia Scout Hall which is located on the 
same road was used.  This offered more suitable polling arrangements and I therefore support 
the suggested change by officers. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: Lutonia Scout Hall 

 

HEA3 

Current Polling Place: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

Returning Officer Comments:  Although historically a mobile unit has been used at this 
location, there are some businesses located on Heath Lane and I welcome considering using 
those as an alternative as part of the review. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

 

Page 74Agenda Item 7



JOY1 

Current Polling Place: Summerhouse Drive Library 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Summerhouse Drive Library 

 

JOY2  

Current Polling Place: Joydens Wood Community Centre 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Joydens Wood Community Centre 

 

LNS1 

Current Polling Place: Jubilee Church Hall 

Returning Officer Comments:  This polling district has a very small electorate and it has been 
difficult to find a suitable polling station within the polling district. The electorate has therefore 
voted in its neighbouring polling station at LNS2.  If would be preferable to find a location closer 
to LNS1 or within the polling district to consider. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

 

LNS2  

Current Polling Place: Jubilee Church Hall 

Returning Officer Comments:  The polling place has been used as a dual polling place for a 
number of years, but has received complaints due to parking issues, and when the Church has 
also been used at the same time.  There are alternative locations which could be considered, 
but consideration would need to be given on distance and whether they offered better polling 
facilities. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: Longfield Library 
Long Valley Hall 

  

LNS3 

Current Polling Place: Community (Scout) Hall 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Community (Scout) Hall 

 

LNS4  

Current Polling Place: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

Page 75 Agenda Item 7



Returning Officer Comments:  The mobile unit has been located at The Oval for a number of 
years and although a more permanent premises would be preferable, one could not previously 
be identified.  If an alternative premises is identified as part of this review, I would consider a 
change if it was more suitable. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

 

LNS5  

Current Polling Place: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

Returning Officer Comments:  The use of a mobile unit at Nuthatch has received many 
complaints due to its siting.  There are no street lights in the area, so power is taken from a 
neighbouring house which restricts where it can be located.  A permanent polling place would be 
preferable, however no premises can be identified and no alternative suggestions have been 
made in previous reviews 

Returning Officer Suggestions: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

 

LNS6  

Current Polling Place: Southfleet Village Hall 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Southfleet Village Hall 

 

LNS7 

Current Polling Place: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

Returning Officer Comments:  A mobile unit has been used in this area and was previously 
moved from the junction of Park Corner Road due to complaints regarding the sight-lines onto 
the road and from the neighbouring property on noise and overlooking.  It has now been located 
on Broomhills, and although complaints have been received these are regarding concern to a 
memorial tree and the aesthetic of its positioning.  A permanent premises would be preferable, 
however one could not be identified previously. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

  

MLC1 

Current Polling Place: Bexley Sports and Social Club 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Bexley Sports and Social Club 

Page 76Agenda Item 7



 

MLC2  

Current Polling Place: Leyton Cross Social Club 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Leyton Cross Social Club 

 

NEW1  

Current Polling Place: St Albans School 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: St Albans School 

 

NEW2  

Current Polling Place: Methodist Church Hall 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Methodist Church Hall 

 

NEW3  

Current Polling Place: The Hesketh Pavilion 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: The Hesketh Pavilion 

 

PRI1  

Current Polling Place: 9th Dartford (Morning Star) Scout Hall 

Returning Officer Comments:  This has previously worked well as a polling station, however 
parking can be difficult as it has no designated car parking.  There are alternatives located very 
close on Heath Lane which may offer better facilities. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: 
9th Dartford (Morning Star) Scout Hall 
1051 (Dartford) Air Cadets 
Dartford Lions 

 

PRI2  

Current Polling Place: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

Returning Officer Comments:  Previously a mobile unit had been used for this polling district 
and placed on the junction of Chestnut Road and Larch Road.  In May 2021, due to Covid-19 
regulations at that time, it was moved and located in the car park at Highfield Road South which 
was outside the polling district.  For the by-elections held in January 2022, due to the difficulties 
in getting a mobile unit, the polling station was moved to the Phoenix Place Community Hub 

Page 77 Agenda Item 7



which became a dual polling station.  This worked well and no complaints were received and I 
therefore suggest this arrangement remains. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: Phoenix Place Community Hub 

 

PRI3  

Current Polling Place: Phoenix Place Community Hub 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Phoenix Place Community Hub 

 

PRI4  

Current Polling Place: Tree Community Centre 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers a good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Tree Community Centre 

 

PRI5  

Current Polling Place: Oakfield Primary School 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Oakfield Primary School 

 

SCA1  

Current Polling Place: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

Returning Officer Comments:  The mobile unit for this area has been placed in various 
locations, most recently the open space on Chalice Way.  A new youth centre, Claire Tiltman 
Centre, which has now been built would offer a good permanent polling place for future 
elections. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: Claire Tiltman Centre 

 

SCA2  

Current Polling Place: Stone Pavilion 

Returning Officer Comments:  For the May 2021 elections the Community Hall was used 
instead of the Pavilion and this offered much better polling facilities and I would suggest that the 
Council consider appointing this as the polling place. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: Community Hall, Stone Pavilion 

 

SCA3  

Page 78Agenda Item 7



Current Polling Place: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

Returning Officer Comments:  This polling district is very large and consideration should be 
given to creating two separate polling districts.  Currently a mobile unit is placed at Steele 
Avenue but a permanent polling place is needed which could hold two polling stations if needed.  

Returning Officer Suggestions: Greenhithe Masonic Hall 
Stone Castle 

 

SHO1a  

Current Polling Place: The Gateway Primary Academy 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, and I support the creation of 
polling district SHO1b for the Neighbourhood Planning Referendum for the period needed. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: The Gateway Primary Academy 

 

SHO1b 

Current Polling Place: The Gateway Primary Academy 

Returning Officer Comments:  I support the changed needed for the creation of this polling 
district so that the Neighbourhood Planning Referendum can be held, and recommend that this 
change be reverted back after the republication of the Register of Electors in December 2022. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: The Gateway Primary Academy 

 

SHO2  

Current Polling Place: Brent Primary School 

Returning Officer Comments:  The electors in this polling district have been voting outside 
their polling district for some time and if an alternative location could be found which would be 
more practicable for electors I would happily consider this for future elections. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

 

SHO3a 

Current Polling Place: The Gateway Primary Academy 

Returning Officer Comments:  The splitting of this polling district would offer better voting 
arrangements for the electors in this area.  Current arrangements cause electors to have to pass 
other polling stations to access their own, which would be worsened if the other changes 
suggested were introduced. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: 
Stone Lodge Bowls Club 
Dartford Judo Club 
Dartford Valley Rugby Club 

 

Page 79 Agenda Item 7



SHO3b 

Current Polling Place: The Gateway Primary Academy 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, and I support the splitting of 
this polling district as set out in the officers’ report. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: The Gateway Primary Academy 

 

SHO4a 

Current Polling Place: Brent Primary School 

Returning Officer Comments:  The splitting of this polling district would offer better voting 
arrangements for the electors in this area and I support the officer recommendation. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: 
Stone Lodge Bowls Club 
Dartford Judo Club 
Dartford Valley Rugby Club 

 

SHO4b 

Current Polling Place: Brent Primary School 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities and other than the suggested 
split to the polling district, I do not suggest that this polling place is changed as the room 
previously used allows the school to remain open. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: Brent Primary School 

 

SH05  

Current Polling Place: Alamein Community Centre 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Alamein Community Centre 

 

SWA1  

Current Polling Place: Heritage Community Hall 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Heritage Community Hall 

 

SWA2  

Current Polling Place: Swanscombe & Greenhithe Town Council Offices 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Swanscombe & Greenhithe Town Council Offices 

 

Page 80Agenda Item 7



SWA3  

Current Polling Place: The Church Centre 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: The Church Centre 

 

TEM1  

Current Polling Place: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

Returning Officer Comments:  The mobile unit has been located at the car park at Trevithick 
Drive and although a more permanent premises would be preferable, previously one could not 
be identified.  If an alternative premises is identified as part of this review I would be happy to 
consider the change for future elections. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: A mobile unit or premises within the polling district or 
neighbouring area 

 

TEM2  

Current Polling Place: Temple Hill School 

Returning Officer Comments:  At the last polling review, following the changes to the polling 
districts, Temple Hill School became the designated polling place.  However, the Returning 
Officers were asked to change the room used to allow the school to remain open which caused 
elector confusion due to its location with the neighbouring polling district.  The Baptist Church 
was previously used, and was utilised in the May 2021 elections which demonstrated it still 
offered a good facility for polling. However I would not support the use of the Living Well Centre 
as the facilities are not ideal and could discourage electors from voting. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: Temple Hill Baptist Church 

 

TEM3  

Current Polling Place: Temple Hill Community Centre 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: Temple Hill Community Centre 

 

TOW1  

Current Polling Place: Mobile unit or premises within the polling district 

Returning Officer Comments:  Following the last polling review, the Primary School has now 
been built and has offered a good polling facility. I therefore recommend that it is the designated 
polling place. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: River Mill Primary School 

Page 81 Agenda Item 7



 

TOW2 a 

Current Polling Place: Highfield Road Baptist Church 

Returning Officer Comments:  Following the completion and occupation of the development 
around the Mill Pond, it would be more convenient for these electors to vote at River Mill Primary 
School rather than Highfield Baptist Church and I therefore support the recommendation of 
officers to create a new polling district and that the polling place is the school. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: River Mill Primary School 

 

TOW2 b 

Current Polling Place: Highfield Road Baptist Church 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Highfield Road Baptist Church 

 

TOW2 c 

Current Polling Place: Highfield Road Baptist Church 

Returning Officer Comments:  With the new residential developments in the Town Centre, I 
support the creation of a new polling district as suggested by officers.  It will need a new polling 
place and Dartford Library seems a sensible place which could be accessed either from the 
town centre or via Central Park. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: Dartford Library 

 

TOW3  

Current Polling Place: Central Park Running Track 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Central Park Running Track 

 

WES1 

Current Polling Place: West Hill Primary Academy 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers a good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: West Hill Primary Academy 

  

WES2  

Current Polling Place: Our Lady’s School 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Our Lady’s School 

Page 82Agenda Item 7



 

WES3  

Current Polling Place: Christ Church Parish Rooms 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Christ Church Parish Rooms 

 

WSH1  

Current Polling Place: Sutton-at-Hone Library 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Sutton-at-Hone Library 

 

WSH2  

Current Polling Place: Hawley Mission Hall 

Returning Officer Comments:  Following being unable to book the Hawley Mission Hall, the 
Papermakers Arms was used for the two previous elections.  This worked well and offered 
better facilities for electors and I therefore suggest that this becomes the designated polling 
place. 

Returning Officer Suggestions: The Papermakers Arms 

 

WSH3  

Current Polling Place: Wilmington Memorial Hall 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Wilmington Memorial Hall 

 

WSH4  

Current Polling Place: St Michael's Church Hall 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: St Michael's Church Hall 

 

WSH5  

Current Polling Place: Oakfield Primary School 

Returning Officer Comments:  This offers good polling facilities, no change suggested. 
Returning Officer Suggestions: Oakfield Primary School 

Page 83 Agenda Item 7



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 84



 
Appendix Bii

REVIEW OF POLLING DISTRICTS AND POLLING PLACES 2022 
RETURNING OFFICER COMMENTS 
 

Following the conclusion of the Review of Polling Districts and Polling Place, please find my additional 
comments on the proposals which have been suggested following the completion of the review. 

BRG2 The Nucleus, Brunel Way, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5GA 
Although the Dartford Bridge Learning & Community Campus worked well as a dual polling station 
with BRG1, The Nucleus is closer to the electors in BRG2. I therefore support this suggestion as an 
alternative and feel it would be better than the Management Suite previously used. 

 

EBB1a Marketing Suite, Eastern Avenue, Western Cross, Ebbsfleet Valley, 
Kent 

I support the creation of this new polling district which is required for the electors of this new 
development as it is not practical for them to vote in the other polling places within the Ebbsfleet 
ward.  Until the community facilities have been built on this development, the use of the Marketing 
Suite offers a good solution, however over time I would suggest that the polling place is changed to a 
more suitable location.  I therefore request that the Council consider adopting the polling place as 
mobile unit or premise within the polling district to allow the flexibility for change if an alternative 
becomes available before the next polling review is conducted. 

 

HEA3 Orchards Garage, 157-161 Heath Lane (Upper), Dartford, Kent, DA1 
2TW 

This seems to be a better alternative than using a mobile unit on Heath Lane and is not located far 
from the previous arrangements. I therefore support this suggestion.  I note the concerns raised 
regarding pedestrian safety and believe that sufficient measures could be put in place. 

 

LNS1 / LNS2 Long Valley Hall Fawkham Road Longfield Kent DA3 7QP 
This would offer a better arrangement for the electors in the LNS1 polling district as the polling place 
would be closer.  The Jubilee Hall has previously received complaints and this would offer better 
facilities to elevate those.  

 

PRI1 1051 (Dartford) Air Cadets, Heath Lane (Lower) Dartford, Kent, DA1 
2QH 

The 9th Dartford (Morning Star) Scout Hall has worked well as a polling station, but this alternative 
proposal does offer better parking facilities and is very close to the current polling place.  However to 
allow flexibility as this facility has not been used before, I would ask that the Council consider 
adopting the polling place as a mobile unit or premises within the polling district to allow the flexibility 
for change if required. 

 

SCA1a Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District or Neighbouring 
Polling District 

The creation of this new polling district seems a sensible proposal with the increased developments 
in the area.  However as no permanent polling place can be identified, the current polling 
arrangements may need to remain until an alternative polling place can be identified in the future. 

 

SCA1b Claire Tiltman Centre, Gantry Place, Cotton Lane, Stone, Greenhithe, 
Kent DA9 9FA 

This centre will offer a permanent solution as a polling place, as the mobile units have been placed in 
various locations within the polling district previously which can cause elector confusion. 

 

 

Page 85 Agenda Item 7



SHO2 Watling Street Cemetery Office, Watling Street, Dartford, Kent, DA2 
6AF 

Using the cemetery office as a polling place offers a better arrangement for the electors in this polling 
district who previously voted at The Brent School which was outside the polling district. 

 

SHO3a / SHO4a Dartford Judo Club, Cotton Lane, Dartford, Kent DA2 6PD 
As previously advised the splitting of this polling district is supported and the Judo Club had worked 
well previously as a polling place. 

 

WSH2 Hawley Garden Centre, Hawley Road, Hawley, Sutton at Hone, Dartford 
DA2 7RB 

The previous suggestion to change the Papermakers Arms as the polling place is no longer possible 
due to the public house closing.  However the suggestion of using Hawley Garden Centre seems a 
sensible alternative and would offer good polling arrangements. 

Page 86Agenda Item 7



Recommendations for Polling Districts and Polling Places 2022 
Appendix C 

PD PD Name Recommended Polling Place Change 

BEA1 Village Park Arrow Riding Centre, Darenth Park Ave, Darenth, Kent, DA2 6LZ  

BEA2 Bean Bean Village Hall, High Street, Kent, DA2 8AS  

BRG1 Marshes Dartford Bridge Learning & Community Campus. Birdwood Ave, 
Dartford, Kent, DA1 5GB 

 

BRG2 Waterside The Nucleus, Brunel Way, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5GA Polling place changed from the Management Suite, Marsh Street 
North, Dartford, DA1 5PF 

BRT1 Livingstone Dartford Primary Academy (Juniors), York Road, Dartford, Kent, 
DA1 1SQ 

 

BRT2 Grassbanks Princes Park, Grassbanks, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1LZ  

BRT3 Fleet Fleetdown Library, Swaledale Road, Dartford, Kent, DA2 6JZ  

BUR1 Burnham Holy Trinity Church of England School, Chatsworth Road, Dartford, 
Kent, DA1 5AF 

 

DAR1 Lane End Darenth Hall, Ladywood Road, Darenth, Kent, DA2 7LL  

DAR2 Ladywood Darenth Hall, Ladywood Road, Darenth, Kent, DA2 7LL  

EBB1a Western Cross Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District  

New Polling District created and although the Marketing Suite, 
Eastern Avenue, Western Cross, Ebbsfleet Valley, Kent has been 
identified as a suitable polling place, the Returning Officer has 
requested the flexibility to change this as the community facilities 
become available in the future. 

EBB1b Cherry Orchard Cherry Orchard Primary Academy or Castle Hill Community Centre, 
Castle Hill, Ebbsfleet Valley, DA10 1AD 

Amended polling district reference 

EBB1c Ebbsfleet Green Ebbsfleet Green Primary School, Ackers Drive, Dartford, Kent, DA10 
1AL 

New Polling District and polling place. 

EBB2 Black Eagle Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District  

GRE1 Knockhall Knockhall Academy, Eynsford Road, Greenhithe, Kent, DA9 9RF  

GRE2 Everards Sir John Franklin, High Street, Greenhithe, Kent, DA9 9NN  

GRE3 Abbey Ingress Community Centre, Ingress Park Avenue, Greenhithe, Kent, 
DA9 9FR 

 

GRE4 Broadness n / a No electors currently in polling district – if required a mobile unit or 
premise within the Polling District would be used. 

HEA1 Wentworth Wentworth County Primary School, Entrance via James Road, 
Wentworth Drive, Dartford, Kent, DA1 3NG 

 

HEA2 Broomhill Lutonia Scout Hall, Broomhill Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 3HT Change of polling place from Scout House Broomhill Road, Dartford, 
Kent, DA1 3HT 

P
age 87

A
genda Item

 7



Recommendations for Polling Districts and Polling Places 2022 
Appendix C 

HEA3 Heathland Orchards Garage, 157-161 Heath Lane (Upper), Dartford, Kent, DA1 
2TW 

Change of polling place from mobile unit or premise within the 
Polling District 

JOY1 Summerhouse Summerhouse Drive Library, 80 Summerhouse Drive, Bexley, Kent, 
DA5 2EE 

 

JOY2 Birchwood Joydens Wood Community Centre, Birchwood Drive, Wilmington, 
Kent, DA2 7NE 

 

LNS1 Green Street 
Green Long Valley Hall Fawkham Road Longfield Kent DA3 7QP Changed from Jubilee Church Hall, Main Road, Longfield, Kent, DA3 

7QP 

LNS2 Longfield Village Long Valley Hall Fawkham Road Longfield Kent DA3 7QP Changed from Jubilee Church Hall, Main Road, Longfield, Kent, DA3 
7QP 

LNS3 Longfield Hill Community (Scout) Hall, Nurstead Lane, Longfield Hill, DA3 7AN  

LNS4 New Barn East Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District  
LNS5 New Barn West Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District  
LNS6 Southfleet East Southfleet Village Hall, Dale Road, Southfleet, Kent, DA13 9NX  

LNS7 Southfleet West Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District  

MLC1 Maypole Bexley Sports and Social Club, Calvert Drive, Dartford, Kent, DA2 
7GA 

 

MLC2 Leyton Cross Leyton Cross Social Club, 14 Tredegar Road, Wilmington, Kent, 
DA2 7AZ 

 

NEW1 St Albans St Albans School, St Albans Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1TE  

NEW2 St Vincent Methodist Church Hall, St Vincents Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1XF  

NEW3 Hesketh The Hesketh Pavilion, Hesketh Park, Pilgrims Way, Dartford, Kent, 
DA1 1QZ 

 

PRI1 Landale Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District 

Although the1051 (Dartford) Air Cadets, Heath Lane (Lower) 
Dartford, Kent, DA1 2QH has been identified as a suitable polling 
place, instead of 9th Dartford (Morning Star) Scout Hall, Heath Lane, 
Dartford, Kent, DA1 2QH, the Returning Officer has requested the 
flexibility to change this as the community facilities become available 
in the future.  

PRI2 Willow Phoenix Place Community Hub, Phoenix Place, Dartford, Kent, DA1 
2XD 

 

PRI3 Phoenix Phoenix Place Community Hub, Phoenix Place, Dartford, Kent, DA1 
2XD 

Changed from mobile unit or premise within the Polling District 

PRI4 Tree Tree Community Centre, Cedar Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 2RS  

PRI5 Walnut Oakfield Primary School, Oakfield Lane, Dartford, Kent, DA1 2SW  

SCA1a Charles Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District New polling district 

P
age 88

A
genda Item

 7



Recommendations for Polling Districts and Polling Places 2022 
Appendix C 

SCA1b Stone Village Claire Tiltman Centre, Gantry Place, Cotton Lane, Stone, 
Greenhithe, Kent DA9 9FA  

Change of polling place from mobile unit or premise within the 
Polling District and amended polling district reference 

SCA2 Horns Cross Stone Pavilion, Hayes Road, Horns Cross, Greenhithe, Kent DA9 
9DS 

 

SCA3 Castle Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District  

SHO1 Cobb Croft The Gateway Primary Academy, Milestone Road, Dartford, Kent, 
DA2 6PL 

 

SHO1b NPR The Gateway Primary Academy, Milestone Road, Dartford, Kent, 
DA2 6PL 

This polling district will be deleted and incorporated back into SHO1 

SHO2 Watling Watling Street Cemetery Office, Watling Street, Dartford, Kent, DA2 
6AF 

Change of polling place from Brent Primary School, London Road, 
Dartford, Kent, DA2 6BA 

SHO3a Cotton Dartford Judo Club, Cotton Lane, Dartford, Kent DA2 6PD New polling district and polling place. 

SHO3b Milestone The Gateway Primary Academy, Milestone Road, Dartford, Kent, 
DA2 6PL 

Polling district split and given new reference 

SHO4a St Lukes Dartford Judo Club, Cotton Lane, Dartford, Kent DA2 6PD New polling district and polling place 

SHO4b St Johns Brent Primary School, London Road, Dartford, Kent, DA2 6BA Polling district split and given new reference  

SH05 Alamein Alamein Community Centre, Alamein Gardens, Stone, Kent DA2 
6BW 

 

SWA1 Craylands Heritage Community Hall, Craylands Lane, Swanscombe, Kent,  
DA10 0LP 

 

SWA2 Grove Swanscombe & Greenhithe Town Council Offices, The Grove, 
Swanscombe, Kent, DA10 0GA 

 

SWA3 Munford The Church Centre, 112 Swanscombe Street, Swanscombe, Kent 
DA10 0JZ 

 

TEM1 Trevithick Mobile Unit or premise within the Polling District  

TEM2 St Edmunds Temple Hill Baptist Church, St Edmunds Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 
5ND 

Polling place changed from Temple Hill Primary Academy, St 
Edmund’s Road, Temple Hill, Dartford, Kent DA1 5ND 

TEM3 Attlee Temple Hill Community Centre, Temple Hill Square, Dartford, Kent, 
DA1 5HX 

 

TOW1 Mill Pond River Mill Primary School, Central Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5XR Polling place changed from mobile unit or premises within the polling 
district 

TOW2a Victoria River Mill Primary School, Central Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 5XR New polling district 

TOW2b Central Central Park Library, Market Street, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1EU New polling district and polling place 

TOW2c Highfield Highfield Road Baptist Church, Highfield Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 
2JJ 

Polling district split and given new reference 

TOW3 Fairfield Central Park Running Track, Cranford Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 
1JP 

 

P
age 89

A
genda Item

 7



Recommendations for Polling Districts and Polling Places 2022 
Appendix C 

WES1 Lawrence West Hill Primary Academy, Dartford Road, Dartford, Kent, DA1 
3DZ 

 

WES2 Edward Our Lady’s Primary School, King Edward Avenue, Dartford, Kent, 
DA1 2HX 

 

WES3 Nelson Christ Church Parish Rooms, Christchurch Road, Dartford, Kent, 
DA1 3DH 

 

WSH1 Sutton at Hone Sutton-at-Hone Library, Main Road, Sutton-at-Hone, Kent, DA4 9HQ  

WSH2 Hawley Hawley Garden Centre, Hawley Road, Hawley, Sutton at Hone, 
Dartford DA2 7RB 

Polling district changed from The Papermakers Arms, Hawley Road, 
Sutton-at-Hone, Dartford, Kent, DA2 7RB 

WSH3 Wilmington 
Common 

Wilmington Memorial Hall, 96 High Road, Wilmington, Kent, DA2 
7DW 

 

WSH4 St Michaels St Michael's Church Hall, 2 High Road, Wilmington, Kent, DA2 7EG  

WSH5 Oakfield Oakfield Primary School, Oakfield Lane, Dartford, Kent, DA1 2EU  

P
age 90

A
genda Item

 7



WSH1

LNS6

LNS7

BRG1

BEA2

DAR1

GRE4

WSH3

JOY2

SCA4

LNS1

JOY1

LNS2

BRG2

SCA2

DAR2

EBB1B

WSH2

EBB2

BEA1
HEA3

SCA1

HEA1

BRT2MLC1 BRT3

LNS4

GRE3

MLC2

BUR1

GRE1

PRI4

SWA1

TOW1

SCA3

WSH4

WES3

GRE2TEM2

SWA3

LNS5

BRT1

PRI5
EBB1C

LNS3

WES1

NEW1
WES2

TEM3

EBB1A

TEM1

SHO3A

NEW2TOW2BHEA2

SHO2PRI2

SWA2

SHO4BPRI1 TOW3 NEW3

SHO1 SHO5TOW2C

SHO3B
TOW2A

SHO4A

PRI3

WSH5

© 
Da

rtfo
rd 

Bo
rou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il 1
00

02
58

70
  2

01
3, 

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 By

  T
he

 Pr
op

ert
y I

nfo
rm

ati
on

 Te
am

, 

Appendix D
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2013
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2022

Legend
Proposed Boundary Change
Proposed Polling Areas
New Polling Areas

P
age 91

A
genda Item

 7



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 92



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
30 June 2022 

COMMUNITY GOVERNANCE REVIEW – SWANSCOMBE TOWN 
WARD  

 
Ebbsfleet and Swanscombe 
 
1. Summary 
 
1.1 To consider whether: 
 

(a) a Community Governance Review should be conducted for the Swanscombe 
Ward area of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council; 

(b)  the boundaries of Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet borough wards be amended 
so they are coterminous and if this is endorsed, to recommend to the General 
Assembly of the Council that the Local Government Boundary Commission 
for England be asked to make an Order confirming the amendment. 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
2.1  That, to ensure that the town and parish council governance arrangements 

continue to reflect the identities and interests of the community and is effective 
and convenient, a Community Governance Review be conducted to consider 
amending the boundary of the Swanscombe Ward area of Swanscombe and 
Greenhithe Town Council, as delineated by a red line on the map, at Appendix 
B to the report. 

2.2  That the Terms of Reference and timescale for the Community Governance 
Review, as detailed in Appendix C to the report, be approved. 

2.3  That Members note that the Community Governance Review cannot make any 
changes to the Swanscombe Town Ward or Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet 
borough ward boundaries, without the consent of the Local Government 
Boundary Commission for England. 

2.4  That, subject to the outcome of the Community Governance Review, the Sub-
committee considers whether the boundaries of Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet 
borough wards should be amended so they are coterminous and if the proposal 
is endorsed, subject to the consultation outcome, the General Assembly of the 
Council be recommended to ask the Local Government Boundary Commission 
for England to make an Order confirming the amendment.   

 
3. Background and Discussion 
 

3.1. A Community Governance Review (CGR) is the process that can be 
used by the Borough Council (the ‘principal council’ under the Local 
Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007) to consider 
whether existing parish arrangements are robust, representative and 
provide efficient delivery of local services. 

3.2. The Borough Council has responsibility for undertaking CGRs and is 
able to decide whether to give effect to recommendations made in those 

Page 93 Agenda Item 8



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
30 June 2022 

reviews. In making that decision, the Borough Council will need to take 
account of the views of local people before completing a Reorganisation 
of Community Governance Order to make the change(s). 
 

3.3. The last CGR was conducted across all the parish arrangements for the 
borough in 2018, coinciding with a review of the Borough ward 
boundaries by the Local Government Boundary Commission for England 
(LGBCE). 

 
3.4. Although a CGR can be conducted at any time, it is good practice for the 

Borough Council to consider conducting a review every 10-15 years.  It 
can be helpful to undertake CGRs in circumstances such as where there 
have been changes in population, or in reaction to specific or local new 
issues e.g. over time, communities may expand with new housing 
developments, leading to existing parish boundaries becoming 
anomalous as new houses are built across the boundaries, resulting in 
people being in different parishes from their neighbours. 

3.5. Appendix B to the report shows planned development which has been 
granted planning permission and which straddles both the Ebbsfleet and 
Swanscombe borough wards. This development is expected to be 
completed by 2025. 

 
As shown on the map at Appendix B, the planned development is divided 
by the borough ward (black line).  Once this development is completed, 
neighbouring properties on the same road would be in different borough 
wards with different elected representatives, with both wards falling 
within the Kent County Council Division of Swanscombe and Greenhithe. 

 
3.6. The area of the development which falls within the Swanscombe 

borough ward would also be parished and form part of Swanscombe 
ward area of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council.  The 
Ebbsfleet borough ward is unparished, following the last CGR conducted 
in the area in 2018. 

3.7. In the circumstances, the Borough Council can implement the CGR 
process to consider whether the existing Swanscombe Ward parish 
arrangements are robust, representative and provide efficient delivery of 
local services. The process includes consulting electors, the 
Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council and interested parties 
before completing a Reorganisation of Community Governance Order to 
make the change(s). 

3.8. When conducting the CGR, the Borough Council should take into 
account community identity and interests in the area, and consider 
whether any particular ties or linkages might be broken by changing 
boundaries. 

3.9. In the interests of effective and convenient local government, it would be 
sensible to consider conducting a CGR of the Swanscombe Ward area 
now whilst there are no electors living in the area of planned 

Page 94Agenda Item 8



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
30 June 2022 

development and avoid confusion in the future and try to get the changes 
implemented before the next scheduled local election in May 2023. 

  
3.10. When the previous CGR was conducted in 2018, the option for parish 

arrangements to remain unchanged was the preferred option of 
residents in Swanscombe and Greenhithe, but the situation within 
Ebbsfleet was very different. In Ebbsfleet, residents favoured the 
proposal that they be separated from Swanscombe and Greenhithe, and 
of those who expressed a view that one or more of the areas should be 
unparished, by far the greatest number emanated from Ebbsfleet. The 
Borough Council therefore felt at that time it was appropriate to consider 
new arrangements for the Ebbsfleet community and that the Ebbsfleet 
borough ward area be unparished. 

3.11. In the 2018 CGR, it was identified that functions that might usually be 
undertaken by a parish council were being discharged by management 
and maintenance regimes funded by contributions from residents and it 
was agreed that it was difficult to see a current remit for a parish council 
in the Ebbsfleet area at that time. 

3.12. Although there are historic origins in the Swanscombe area, the 
Ebbsfleet area is now a garden city, which has developed its own identity 
and character, which is distinct from its neighbouring communities, with 
its own borough ward representation.    

3.13. The whole of the planned development falls within the Ebbsfleet 
Development Corporation area (purple area on Appendix B) and fixing 
this boundary to one that is easily identifiable with Swanscombe should 
be considered to resolve splitting the planned development across two 
borough wards.  

3.14. As a review has been conducted by the LGBCE within the previous five 
years, the arrangements for the parish councils in Dartford are protected 
and consent is required from the Chief Executive of the LGBCE before 
any changes are made.   

3.15. The request to the LGBCE for related alterations to boundaries can only 
be made once the CGR for the Swanscombe Ward area has been 
completed and consultation has been held with electors, interested 
parties and Swanscombe and Greenhithe Parish Council. 

3.16. The CGR cannot make any changes to borough wards. LGBCE has 
advised that any requests for related alterations to boundaries of 
Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet borough wards so they are coterminous will 
have to be made by the 1 October 2022, and that there can be no 
guarantee that any Order will be made in time for implementation for the 
elections scheduled for May 2023. 

3.17. Subject to the outcome of the CGR, the Sub-committee is recommended 
to consider whether the boundaries of Swanscombe and Ebbsfleet 
borough wards should be amended so they are coterminous and if the 
proposal is endorsed, subject to the consultation outcome, the General 
Assembly of the Council be recommended to ask the Local Government 

Page 95 Agenda Item 8



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
30 June 2022 

Boundary Commission for England to make an Order confirming the 
amendment.   

 
 

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan 
 

Theme: A council performing strongly: 
Objective 2. Inform and consult residents and stakeholders about 
Council services. 

 
5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments* 
 
Financial Implications The costs of the consultation exercise will be 

met from within existing budgets.  
Legal Implications 
 
 

The Borough Council will need to resolve to 
make a Reorganisation Order by December 
2022 for these changes to come into effect for 
the local government elections in May 2023. 

Public Sector Equality 
Duty 

None 

Climate Impact 
Assessment 

None 

Staffing Implications None 
Administrative 
Implications 

The Electoral Management system will need to 
be amended and the Register of Electors 
republished to reflect the changes in time for the 
nomination registers for the May 2023 elections.  
The new parish boundaries and wards would be 
taken into account in the polling district and 
polling place review and changes made where 
necessary.  
The Council Tax system will also need to be 
updated so that the correct precept is calculated 
for each parish area. All other Council databases 
will also need to be updated to ensure that they 
hold the correct information, which will include 
planning, and property related information. 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints 
  
6. Details of Exempt Information Category 
 
 Not applicable 
  

Page 96Agenda Item 8



ELECTORAL PROVISIONS SUB-COMMITTEE 
30 June 2022 

 
7. Appendices 
 

Appendix A – Map of current boundaries 
Appendix B - Map of proposed changes boundaries 
Appendix C – CGR Terms of Reference 

 
 
 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Documents consulted Date / 
File Ref 

Report Author Section and 
Directorate 

Exempt 
Information 
Category 

 
  Jeanette Pegler 

(01322) 343424 
Electoral 
Services 
/Chief 
Officer and 
Director of 
Corporate 
Services 

N/A 

Page 97 Agenda Item 8



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 98



Unparished

Bean

West

SwanscombeKnockhall

Greenhithe

Castle

Horns Cross

Stone Village

Lane End

Contains OS data © Crown Copyright and database right 100025870

© 
Da

rtfo
rd 

Bo
rou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il 1
00

02
58

70
  2

01
3, 

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 By

  T
he

 Pr
op

ert
y I

nfo
rm

ati
on

 Te
am

, 

Appendix A
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2013
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2022

Legend

Parish Ward

A
ppendix A

P
age 99

A
genda Item

 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 100



Unparished

Swanscombe

Knockhall

© 
Da

rtfo
rd 

Bo
rou

gh
 C

ou
nc

il 1
00

02
58

70
  2

01
3, 

Ma
p P

rod
uc

ed
 By

  T
he

 Pr
op

ert
y I

nfo
rm

ati
on

 Te
am

, 

Appendix B
Reproduced from the Ordnance Survey 
map with the permission of the Controller
of Her Majestys Stationery Office
© Crown Copyright 2013
Unauthorised reproduction 
Infringes Crown Copyright and 
May lead to prosecution or civil
Proceedings
Dartford Borough Council 100025870  2022

Legend

Planned Development
Parish Ward
Proposed Boundary
Ebbsfleet Development Corporation

Appendix B
P

age 101
A

genda Item
 8



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 102



APPENDIX C
 

Community Governance Review - Terms of Reference 
 

Dartford Borough Council has resolved to undertake a Community Governance Review on the Swanscombe 
Ward area of Swanscombe and Greenhithe Town Council as shown below: - 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Review will be carried out under the provisions of the Local Government and Public Involvement in 
Health Act 2007 and the relevant parts of the Local Government Act 1972. The review shall comply with the 
legislative requirements, have regard for the associated statutory guidance (Guidance on Community 
Governance Reviews issued by the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government) and will be 
conducted in accordance with these terms of reference. 

Why is the Council Undertaking the Review? 

The Council is required to keep its area under review – and it has been noticed that a proposed new 
development will lead to existing parish boundaries becoming anomalous as new houses are built across the 
boundaries resulting in people being in different areas from their neighbours. 
 
What is a Community Governance Review? 
 
A Community Governance Review can consider one or more of the following:  

 Creating, merging, altering or abolishing parishes; 
 Altering the boundaries of existing parishes; 
 Making changes to the electoral arrangements of parish councils; 
 The dissolution of a parish council 

 
The Council wants to ensure that Parish and Town Council governance in the Borough of Dartford continues 
to be robust, representative and able to meet the challenges that lie before it.  Furthermore, it wants to ensure 
that there is clarity and transparency to the areas that parish and town councils represent and that the 
electoral arrangements are appropriate, equitable and readily understood by their electorate. 
 
Who carries out the Community Governance Review? 
 
Dartford Borough Council is responsible for carrying out the review.  A Steering Group of Councillors and 
Officers will work with the Chief Officer and Director of Corporate Services and the Electoral Services 
Manager, to oversee the implementation of the Community Governance Review and to report back to the 

Page 103 Agenda Item 8



APPENDIX C
General Assembly of Council with recommendations based on the responses to the consultation.  The 
steering group will need to carry out the review impartially and objectively. 
 
If the review concludes that changes should be made, and these are then approved by the General Assembly 
of the Council, then Dartford Borough Council would make and publish a Reorganisation Order to put the 
changes into effect.  The Order may cover any matters that appear to the Council to be necessary to give 
effect to the Order.  These may include the transfer and management or custody of property, functions, rights 
and liabilities and the setting of a precept if a new parish were to be created. 
 
 
How does the Council propose to conduct consultations during the Review? 
Before making or publicising the recommendations, the Council will take account of the views of local people.  
The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 requires the Council to consult the local 
government electors for the area under review and any other person or body who appears to have an interest 
in the review. 
 
The Council will: 
 

 publish a notice and these terms of reference on the Council’s website; 
 send a copy of the notice and these terms of reference to Members of Parliament, Kent County 

Council, Swanscombe & Greenhithe Town Council and Kent Association of Local Councils; 
 Advertise that a Community Governance Review is being undertaken; 
 Publish information on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk; 
 Consult local government electors for the areas under review inviting responses; 
 Consult other interested stakeholders and local members; 
 Welcome comments from any other person or body that wishes to make representation; 
 Take into account any representations received in connection with the review; 
 Any petitions received during this review will be treated as a consultation response and the lead 

petitioner be recorded as the point of contact. 
 
Timetable for the Review 
 

Stage Action Timescale 

Commencement Terms of Reference be approved by the Electoral 
Provisions Sub-committee and published. 30 June 2022 

Stage 1 Initial submissions are invited 1 July 2022 

Stage 2 

General Assembly of Council to grant delegated 
authority to the Chief Officer and Director of 
Corporate Services to seek permission from the 
LGBCE for any changes necessary. 

25 July 2022 

Stage 3 Consideration of submissions received – Draft 
recommendations are prepared & published 8 August 2022 

Stage 4 Final Recommendations are published on Dartford 
Borough Council’s website – concluding the review 22 August 2022 

Stage 5 
The General Assembly of the Council resolves to 
make a Reorganisation Order (subject to permission 
from the LGBCE) 

By 1 October 2022 

 
NB: the timetable is subject to alteration although the Review must be completed with twelve months of this publication 
of the terms of reference. 
 
Reorganisation of Community Governance Orders 
 
The Review will be completed when the Council adopts the Reorganisation of Community Governance Order.  
Copies of this Order, the maps that show the effects of the Order in detail, and the documents which set out 

Page 104Agenda Item 8

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/


APPENDIX C
the reasons for the decision that the Council has taken will be deposited at the Council’s Civic Offices and 
published on the Council’s website. 
 
How to Submit Your Views 
 
You can submit your views via email or in writing to:  
 
Electoral Services Manager (C1) 
Civic Centre 
Home Gardens 
Dartford 
DA1 1DR 
 
Or via email community.review@dartford.gov.uk  
 
 
 
Date of Publication: 30 June 2022

Page 105 Agenda Item 8

mailto:community.review@dartford.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 106


	Agenda
	at 7.00 pm

	3 Minutes of the meeting held on 3 February 2022
	Minutes

	7 Interim Review of Polling Districts and Polling Places 2022
	PDPP Review Appedix A
	BEA1 Polling Review 2022
	BEA2 Polling Review 2022
	BRG1 Polling Review 2022
	BRG2 Polling Station 2022
	BRT1 Polling Review 2022
	BRT2 Polling Review 2022
	BRT3 Polling Review 2022
	BUR1 Polling Review 2022
	DAR1 DAR2 Polling Review 2022
	EBB1a Polling Review 2022
	EBB1b Polling Review 2022
	EBB1c Polling Review 2022
	EBB2 Polling Review 2022
	GRE1 Polling Review 2022
	GRE2 Polling Review 2022
	GRE3 Polling Review 2022
	HEA1 Polling Review 2022
	HEA2 Polling Review 2022
	HEA3 Polling Review 2022
	JOY1 Polling Review 2022
	JOY2 Polling Review 2022
	LNS1 LNS2 Polling Review 2022
	LNS3 Polling Review 2022
	LNS4 Polling Review 2022
	LNS5 Polling Review 2022
	LNS6 Polling Review 2022
	LNS7 Polling Review 2022
	MLC1 Polling Review 2022
	MLC2 Polling Review 2022
	NEW1 Polling Review 2022
	NEW2 Polling Review 2022
	NEW3 Polling Review 2022
	PRI1 Polling Review 2022
	PRI2 PRI3 Polling Review 2022
	PRI4 Polling Review 2022
	PRI5 WSH5 Polling Review 2022
	SCA1 Polling Review 2022
	SCA2 Polling Review 2022
	SCA3 Polling Review 2022
	SHO1 SHO3b Polling Review 2022
	SHO2 Polling Review 2022
	SHO3a SHO4a Polling Review 2022
	SHO4b Polling Review 2022
	SHO5 Polling Review 2022
	SWA1 Polling Review 2022
	SWA2 Polling Review 2022
	SWA3 Polling Review 2022
	TEM1 Polling Review 2022
	TEM2 Polling Review 2022
	TEM3 Polling Review 2022
	TOW1 TOW2a Polling Review 2022
	TOW2b Polling Review 2022
	TOW2c Polling Review 2022
	TOW3 Polling Review 2022
	WES1 Polling Review 2022
	WES2 Polling Review 2022
	WES3 Polling Review 2022
	WSH1 Polling Review 2022
	WSH2 Polling Review 2022
	WSH3 - Polling Review 2022
	WSH4 Polling Review 2022

	PDPP Appendix Bi
	PDPP Appendix Bii
	PDPP Review AppendixC
	PDPP Review Appendix D

	8 Community Governance Review - Swanscombe Town Ward
	C3_CGR_Appendix_A
	C4_CGR_Appendix_B
	C5_CGR Appendix C


